RECEIVED

12-14-2009

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Appeal No. 2009AP1540-CR No. 2009AP1541-CR No. 2009AP1542-CR No. 2009AP1543-CR

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SCOTTIE BALDWIN

Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCES ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HON. CLARE L. FIORENZA PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT SCOTTIE BALDWIN

Robert E. Haney State Bar No. 1023054

> 611 North Broadway, Ste. 200 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-5004 Telephone: (414) 271-5655 Facsimile: (414) 271-6339

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err in assessing the DNA surcharge, even in the absence of requiring a DNA sample from the Defendant/Appellant, solely on the grounds that the surcharge funds the State's DNA program?

Trial Court: No.

2. Did the trial court offend the Defendant/Appellant's 6th Amendment right to confrontation of his accuser when it allowed the State to introduce a victimwitness's hearsay statements into evidence at trial in lieu of having her appear, testify, and be subject to cross-examination?

Trial Court: No.

3. Did the trial court fail to utilize the proper legal standard regarding authentication of recorded telephone calls when it admitted certain recorded calls into evidence?

Trial Court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This matter presents no unique issues of law that would warrant either oral argument or publication. While the facts are somewhat unique, proper resolution is dependent upon the application of settled law to those facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Note: This appeal is the consolidation of four Milwaukee County cases, therefore, there are four records that comprise the consolidated record on appeal. For purposes of this brief, the Record for case 07CM1803, 09AP1541CR, is referenced as R1. The Record for case 07CM2031, 09AP1540, is referenced as R2. The Record for case 07CF2984, 09AP1543, is referenced as R3. The Record for case 07CF3514, 09AP1542, is referenced as R4. This notation reflects the chronological order of the issuance of the cases in the circuit court.

On March 13, 2007, the Defendant/Appellant, Scottie Baldwin, was charged with one count of Disorderly Conduct, as an Habitual Offender, in violation of §§947.01 and 939.62, Wis. Stats. in Milwaukee County case number 07CM1803 as the result of an incident allegedly involving his girlfriend. R1:2. The initial appearance in that matter was held on that same day. R1:24.

After being released on bail, on March 23, 2007, the Defendant/Appellant was charged in Milwaukee County case number 07CM2031with one count of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping in violation of §946.49(1)(a), Wis. Stats., in a criminal complaint alleging a violation of the no-contact order that was a condition of the bond set in case number 07CM1803. R2:3.

Again after being released on bail, on June 14, 2007, the Defendant/Appellant was charged in Milwaukee County case number 07CF2984 with Aggravated Battery as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§940.19(4) and 939.62, Wis. Stats., False Imprisonment as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§940.30 and 939.62, Wis. Stats., and four counts of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§946.49(1)(a) and 939.62. R3:3. All six counts concerned allegations involving his girlfriend. R3:3.

The felony matter was set for a preliminary hearing on June 21, 2007. R3:1, §6. It began on that day, but was adjourned until June 26, 2007, after Milwaukee Police Officer Jay Jackson testified, because the victim, R. Z. did not appear. R3:1, §6.

On June 26, 2007, when R.Z. again failed to appear, the charge of Aggravated Battery as an Habitual Offender was amended to Misdemeanor Battery as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§940.19(1) and 939.62, Wis. Stats., the charge of False Imprisonment as an Habitual Offender was dismissed, as was one count of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping. R3:1,§§9-11.

On July, 24, 2007, the State filed a complaint charging the defendant with a felony count of intimidation of a witness as an habitual offender, in violation of §§940.42, 940.43, 940.46, and 939.62, Wis. Stats., and twenty-three (23) misdemeanor charges (all as an habitual offender). R4:5. Those counts included fifteen (15) counts of bail jumping based on violating the various No-Contact Orders that were issued in these pending cases, as well as other prior cases, one count of battery, one count of battery while armed, one count of disorderly conduct, one count of disorderly conduct while armed, one count of criminal damage to property while armed, and two counts of misdemeanor intimidation of a witness. R4:5.

The gravamen of the felony charge was that the Defendant/Appellant wrote to D.Z. prior to the preliminary hearing in case 07CF2984, instructing her to call Judge Conen (who was presiding over the preliminary hearing) and tell the Judge that she was bi-polar, that he had previously issued a body attachment for her in another matter, that she had not taken her medication on the day the Defendant/Appellant was alleged to have committed the offenses set forth in case 07CF2984, and that she was not coming to court. R4:5. The Defendant/Appellant also was alleged to instruct D.Z. to leave her telephone number so that the judge could call her back if he wanted to do so. R4:5.

The Defendant/Appellant was also alleged to have spoken the D.Z. on the telephone on several occasions prior to the preliminary hearing in 07CF2984, telling her to send a notarized recantation to the court. R4:5. On June 26, 2007, Judge Conen received a letter dated June 21, 2007 (purportedly signed by D.Z.) recanting statements made to the police with regard to the allegations in case 07CF2984, and containing allegations of being bi-polar and off her medications. R4:5.

The two misdemeanor charges of intimidation of a witness related to two prior cases, 05CM7326, and 06CM299 R4:5.

On August 2, 2007, the State filed an amended complaint with the same charges, with minor changes to parts of the penalty section of the complaint that it originally filed. R4:7.

The preliminary hearing was held on August 2 and 3, 2007. R4:1,§§ 9-11. At the conclusion of the hearing, after finding probable cause and binding the defendant over for trial, the court consolidated all four cases (07CF3514, 07CF2984, 07CM1803, and 07CM2031) and the entered an order rescinding the Defendant/Appellant's mail, telephone, and visitation privileges while in custody, with the only exception relating to contact between the Defendant/Appellant and his trial attorney. R4:41, pp. 9-30.

Following the preliminary hearing that was held on August 3 and 4, 2007, the State filed a Motion for Forfeiture by Wrongdoing Hearsay and Confrontation Clause Petition and Legal Analysis. R4:12. In that Motion, the State outlined its evidence that the Defendant/Appellant had, in 2005 and 2006, been charged with domestic abuse related charges that ultimately were dismissed on the scheduled date of trial when the victim (D.Z. the same alleged victim in these cases) did not appear to testify¹. R4:12, pp. 2-4. The State also outlined its evidence that D.Z. did not appear to testify at the trial on those charges because of actions taken by the Defendant/Appellant to dissuade her from appearing in court to testify.² R4:12, pp. 6-9.

The State then reviewed its evidence concerning the events surrounding the preliminary hearing in case 07CF2984, and its evidence that D.Z. did not appear because of actions taken by the Defendant/Appellant to dissuade her from appearing to testify at that hearing.³ R4:12, pp. 8-9.

The State then offered its legal analysis concerning the doctrine of forfeiture through wrong-doing, concluding its analysis by explaining the Wisconsin Supreme Court's

¹ The allegations in those complaints were the basis for counts 2-5 of the Amended Information filed in Case 07CF3514.

 $^{^2}$ Those acts form the basis for the misdemeanor intimidation of a witness charges, counts 6 and 7 of the Amended Information filed in case 07CF3514.

³ Those actions formed the basis for the felony intimidation of a witness charge, count 1 of the Amended Information filed in case 07CF3514.

decision in *State v. Jensen*, 299 Wis.2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518 (2007). R4:12, pp. 16-20.

The relief sought by the State was then requested, specifically

a finding that the defendant, through his own actions and based on a preponderance of the evidence presented, has forfeited his State and Federal Constitutional [Confrontation] Clause protections and right to object under hearsay to the evidence to be provided by law enforcement in lieu of the victim's unavailability to the State based on this defendants [sic] own misconduct and malicious intimidation.

R4:12, p. 25.

Thus, on August 8, 2007, the State argued that the trial court should find that the past actions of the Defendant/Appellant were the basis for D.Z.'s unavailability at the trial yet to be held, therefore allowing the State to introduce hearsay statements made by D.Z. instead of having her present to testify and be cross-examined. R4:12.

At this point in time, the trial was set for September 5, 2007. R3:34, p. 4. Due to the filing of that motion by the State, and a defense suppression motion, the trial date was changed to October 29, 2007, with a hearing date for the motions set for September 21, 2007, after the defendant entered a speedy trial demand. R3:34, pp. 7-12.

On September 21, 2007, the hearing on the State's motion, and a defense motion to suppress the fruits of the search warrant that the State's motion was partially based on, was adjourned to November 16, 2007, and a new trial date of January 7, 2007, was set. R4:42, 5-22.

On November 16, 2007, the defense responded to the State's motion, arguing to the court that, because the trial was still two months off, it was premature to declare D.Z. was unavailable to testify, and that there was no evidence introduced by the State to indicate was efforts were being made to secure the presence of the witness. R4:43, pp. 12-13.

In response, the State argued that because D.Z. had not appeared after being subpoenaed in a prior case (06CM299) and a body attachment was issued, she could be found to be unavailable at the trial in this case. R4:43, p. 17.

Specifically, the State argued:

The State's established, therefore, that it's not only exhausted the subpoena system in the past, but it has exhausted every resource of the powers of the courts to secure warrants for people's arrests to overcome the defendant's efforts to intimidate individuals.

The State's demonstrated an extremely long history of, not only the repeated abuse, but the repeated attempts to thwart the criminal justice system through crimes of intimidation as filed by the State. And so I think the State's pattern has shown, at the very minimum, that we've satisfied a preponderance of the evidence that, for these proceedings and others, the defendant's engaged in this pattern and forfeits his right by his own misconduct.

R4:43, p. 18.

Initially, the Court appeared to share the concern that it was premature to declare that D.Z. was not available for trial so far in advance of the trial date. R4:43, pp. 26-27.

The Court: As I said before, I don't have a crystal ball as to if she's going to appear or not, but the Court has to set a deadline.

The State shall use all its proper resources to secure a subpoena upon that individual . Does the State have any idea where she is?

The State: No.

R4:43, p. 27.

The Court: I totally understand your position that in this case, you know, in 2007, the State has not attempted to subpoena [D.Z.].

Correct?

The State: We have been making efforts to communicate with her and subpoena her, but we cannot locate her.

•••

The Court: I don't know what attempts the State – the State has made to secure her cooperation in this case thus far, and Mr. Greipp is advising me they have and – tried to secure cooperation; and, to date, they haven't found her. And what – that's news to me and probably to you also 'cause I wasn't aware of that.

R4:43, pp. 30-31.

Then there was more discussion about "availability" and the State's duty and efforts to secure the witness.

The State: I would only posit that the case law and the -- and the information before the Court in the briefings of both federal and state law have to do with the defendant's conduct as it relates to his rights of confrontation and does in no way apply to the state's efforts to secure It's a strict analysis of the that witness. defendant's behavior and whether or not the defendant's behavior waives the right. Therefore, the efforts to secure the witness is [sic] a separate issue.

R4:43, p. 32.

The Court: Would you agree -- ...forfeiture by wrongdoing really does not tie in with the

State's attempt to try to get that witness here. ... It does not tie in with respect to due diligence on the State's part to get anybody here to trial. Do you agree with that?

Defense: Well, the - - the – I believe that the State still -- They're the ones who have to produce the witnesses. They're the ones who -who brought the charges. It's up to the State to prove their case -- not up to the defendant to prove himself innocent.

The Court: ... I am not aware of any requirement that the State has to show everything they've done to produce that witness before the motion could be granted, I guess, is what I'm saying.

R4:43, pp. 33-34.

A ruling on the State's motion was put over until December 10, 2007. R4:43, pp. 36-39.

On December 10, 2007, the State told the court that it had served a subpoena on a woman who was in the courthouse hallway, with the Defendant/Appellant's and D.Z.'s child, with the understanding that this woman would, in turn, give the subpoena to D.Z. R3:35, pp. 5-6. The State indicated to the Court that it interrogated the woman to determine her address and telephone number. R3:35, p. 6. The State did not indicate if she was interrogated as to when and where she was going to meet D.Z., or if she knew D.Z. address, telephone number, place of employment, or current whereabouts. *See* R3:35, pp. 1-42.

The court reviewed its analysis of the relevant law, relying on *Jensen* as the controlling case. R.:12/10/07, pp. 11. The court came to the conclusion that the first step in determining if the unavailability of a witness is due to circumstances that would lead to a forfeiture of the right to confrontation because of wrong-doing of a defendant would be to determine that the witness is unavailable. R3:35, p. 12-13.

The State then argued that D.Z. should be found to be unavailable *even if she were present in court on the day of trial*. R3:35, pp. 24-25.

The State: So the only other aspect I would proffer to this Court is, in many respects, that this victim is, per se, unavailable not only in the history, but in the fact that [the defendant] solicited her to falsely swear.

In that respect, clearly demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence, even if this witness is here in court, the damage he has done to the prosecution's case makes her, per se, unavailable as our criminal justice system was designed. ...

If we adopt any different standard, meaning that their actual, physical appearance is the only thing that determines whether or not their available, I think we do a disservice for what -the whole premise to our confrontation clause analysis. In many respects, the defendant is no longer going to have -- whether this victim is here or not -- a person that he needs to confront.

R3:35, pp. 24-25.

The court concluded that it would issue a final decision on the trial date if D.Z. did not appear in court and there was "a proper showing of the attempts the State has made to produce her for trial. R3:35, pp. 36-37.

On January 7, 2008, the date set for trial, the State moved to adjourn the trial because it alleged that the Defendant/Appellant had, despite being held without telephone, mail, or visitation privileges, intimidating D.Z., through third parties, into not appearing in court. R4:44, pp. 1-6.

The State indicated that it had personally served D.Z. with a subpoena the week prior. R4:44, p. 5. However, at no time did the State request a body attachment in response to D.Z.'s

non-appearance. *See* R4:44, pp. 1-30. The matter was set for a status hearing on January 22, 2007. R4:44, p. 29.

On January 22, 2008, the status conference was held, a jury trial date of April 14, 2008 was set, as was a final pre-trial date of February 21, 2008; again the State did not request a body attachment to secure the presence of D.Z., who had not appeared earlier in response to the subpoena served on her. R4:45, pp. 1-20.

On February 21, 2008, at the final pre-trial, the State indicated that it had hundreds of minutes of recordings relating to the allegations of intimidation by the Defendant/Appellant, but that it only anticipated introducing extremely brief portions of them at trial. R4:46, pp. 4-17.

The defense, however, had concerns regarding the doctrine of completeness regarding those calls. R4:46, pp. 14-16.

Defense: Well, it's our position that if any part of any phone call is going to be played to the jury, then it should not be up to the District Attorney to pick and choose two minutes out of a ten-minute phone call -- conversation. I think the jury should hear the whole thing so they know what the whole context is.

R4:46, p. 15.

After some discussion, the court held that the defense could introduce any portion of a conversation the State was using a portion of, after first establishing that the portion it wanted introduced was relevant. R4:46, pp. 16-28.

The Defendant/Appellant also addressed the fact that before any of the tapes could be introduced as evidence, the State had the burden of authenticating that the persons on the recordings were indeed the Defendant/Appellant and D.Z.. R4:46, pp. 21-25.

The matter was set for a status conference on February 28, 2008. R4:46, p. 30.

At the February 28, 2008 status conference, the Defendant/Appellant again raised the issue of identification and authentication of the taped telephone conversations, specifically noting that, "Nobody ever identified him as being a -- a speaker on those phone calls...And, as far as the destination calls that were played, they were made to a phone number that is not that of D.Z...." R4:48, pp. 12-13.

At the status conference held on April 4, 2008, the State filed an Amended Information in case 07CF3514 relating to the charges in that proceeded to be tried, those being,

- 1. Felony Intimidation of a Witness as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§ 940.42, 940.43(7). 940.46, and 939.62, Wis. Stats. (on or about June 20, 2007),
- 2. Disorderly Conduct as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§947.01 and 939.62, Wis. Stats. (on or about August 5, 2005),
- 3. Criminal Damage to Property as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§943.01 and 939.62, Wis. Stats. (on or about August 5, 2005),
- 4. Battery as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§940.19 and 939.62, Wis. Stats.,
- 5. Disorderly Conduct as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§947.01 and 939.62, Wis. Stats. (on or about January 13, 2006)
- Misdemeanor Intimidation of a Witness as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§940.42, 940.46, and 939.62, Wis. Stats. (on or between January 30 2006 and May 14 2006 in case 05CM7326), and
- Misdemeanor Intimidation of a Witness as an Habitual Offender in violation of §§940.42, 940.46, and 939.62, Wis. Stats. (on or between January 30 2006 and May 14 2006 in case 06CM299).

R4:24.

In addition to those charges, the trial would also deal with the battery and three bail jumping charges in case 07CF2984, the disorderly conduct charges in case 07CM1803, and the misdemeanor bail jumping charge in case 07CM2031. R4:48, pp. 13-18.

The State informed the trial court that it had again located D.Z., and again served her with a subpoena for the April 14, 2008 trial. R4:48, pp. 19-22.

On April 14, 2008, the date set for trial, the matter was called, D.Z. did not appear, and a body attachment warrant was issued to secure her appearance. R4:49, pp. 5-16. The Defendant/Appellant objected that the transcripts prepared by identified the speakers being the State as the Defendant/Appellant and DZ, even though neither was identified as such in the content of the transcripts (except that on a transcript of a voice mail left for defense counsel, the speaker identifies himself as the Defendant/Appellant), and that the identity of the speakers is exactly what the jury was going to have to determine. R4:49, pp. 24-26.

The State argued, and the court agreed, that the transcripts identifying the speakers as the Defendant/Appellant and D. Z. would only be presented and published to the jury for their use due to the difficulty of understanding the actual recordings 'because the tapes are hard to hear." R4:49, pp. 26-33.

Shortly after 12:00 noon, the court, noting that it had issued the body attachment less than three hours earlier, declared D.Z. unavailable for trial without any inquiry as to what steps were taken to execute the body attachment, and ruled that the Defendant/Appellant had thus forfeited his right to confrontation under *Jensen*, and that hearsay testimony would be admitted in lieu of DZ.'s actual testimony. R4:49, pp. 36-44.

A jury was selected during the afternoon of April 14, 2008. R4:50, pp. 1-114.

On April 15, 2008, it was established that telephone number 414 588-4372, according to U.S. Cellular billing records is

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