RECEIVED

02-16-2010

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALOF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2009AP1540-CR, 2009AP1541-CR, 2009AP1542-CR, 2009AP1543-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

SCOTTIE L. BALDWIN,

v.

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE CLARE L. FIORENZA, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1740

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As respondent, the State exercises its option not to include separate statements of the case and facts. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.19(3)(a)2. Any necessary information will be included where appropriate in the State's argument.

ARGUMENT

Defendant-appellant Scottie L. Baldwin appeals four judgments of conviction for four counts of misdemeanor bail jumping, three counts of disorderly conduct, two counts of battery, one count of felony intimidation of a witness, and two counts of misdemeanor intimidation of a witness, with all crimes except one of the bail jumping convictions carrying habitual criminality penalty enhancers (2009AP1540-CR, 11; 2009AP1541-CR, 15; 2009AP1542-CR, 31; 2009AP1543-CR, 19). See Wis. Stat. §§ 946.49(1)(a); 947.01; 940.19(1); 940.43(1); 940.42; 939.62.¹ Baldwin was convicted of committing these crimes against his girlfriend, Z., for physically assaulting Rosalie her. contacting her in violation of his bail, and preventing her from appearing to testify about these incidents at court proceedings.

On appeal, Baldwin raises three issues. First, he contends that the circuit court erred in imposing a DNA surcharge because it did not adequately explain its reasons for doing so (Baldwin's brief at 17-18). Second, he argues the court improperly admitted at trial Rosalie's hearsay statements to police explaining Baldwin's

¹ All future references to the record will be to the record in appeal number 2009AP1542-CR unless otherwise noted.

crimes against her under the doctrine of forfeiture by wrongdoing (Baldwin's brief at 19-22). Finally, he argues that the circuit court erroneously allowed the State to play phone calls between him and Rosalie without laying the proper foundation for them (Baldwin's brief at 22-23).

This court should deny Baldwin relief on all of these claims. Baldwin did not appeal from the court's postconviction order on the DNA surcharge issue and thus, it is not before this court. Further, even if this court has jurisdiction to review this issue, Baldwin raised it pro se in the circuit court while represented by counsel and he forfeited appellate review of the claim. Additionally, the circuit court correctly admitted Rosalie's statements pursuant to the doctrine of forfeiture of wrongdoing because it properly concluded that the State had shown that Baldwin was responsible for her being unavailable to testify. Finally, the State laid a proper foundation for the telephone calls. This court should affirm Baldwin's judgments of conviction.

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REVIEW BALDWIN'S CLAIM THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY IMPOSED A DNA SURCHARGE.
 - A. This court does not have jurisdiction to address this claim because Baldwin did not appeal from the circuit court's postconviction order denying him relief on this claim.

Baldwin's first claim is that the circuit court improperly ordered him to pay a DNA surcharge as part of his sentence (Baldwin's brief at 17-18; 58:84-85). Specifically, he claims the court imposed the surcharge without explaining its reasons for doing so, in violation of this court's decision in *State v. Cherry*, 2008 WI App 80, ¶¶ 9-10, 312 Wis. 2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393 (Baldwin's brief at 17-18).

This court lacks jurisdiction to consider this claim because Baldwin did not appeal from the circuit court's order denying him relief on this issue. Although Baldwin objected to the DNA surcharge at sentencing, he did so on the grounds that he had already given a DNA sample, not that the court failed to give its reasons for imposing the surcharge (58:84-85). Thus, Baldwin needed to file a postconviction motion to preserve this claim for appeal. See Wis. Stat. § 974.02(2) (postconviction motion required to preserve issues for appeal other than sufficiency of the evidence or grounds previously raised). Baldwin did so. arguing that the court violated Cherry in a pro se

postconviction motion (36; 2009AP1543-CR, 23). Baldwin's notice of appeal, however, does not purport to appeal from the circuit court's July 31, 2009 order denying that motion (37). Instead, the notice only appeals from "the conviction entered on April 18, 2008, and the sentence entered on June 19, 2008" (37).

Baldwin's failure to include the circuit court's order on his notice of appeal deprives this court of jurisdiction over his claim relating to the DNA surcharge. "If a party fails to comply with the statutory requirements for filing a timely notice of appeal, the court of appeals lacks jurisdiction, and the court must dismiss the appeal as defective." State v. Sorenson, 2000 WI 43, ¶ 16, 234 Wis. 2d 648, 611 N.W.2d 240. A notice of appeal must identify any judgment or order appealed. See Wis. Stat. § 809.10(1)(b)2 and 5. Baldwin did not appeal from the circuit court's order denving his postconviction motion. Thus, he did not give this court, the circuit court, or the State notice that he was appealing from the circuit court's order on his postconviction motion, and this court lacks jurisdiction over this claim. Sorenson, 234 Wis. 2d 648, ¶ 16 n.9.

Further. Baldwin's omission is not inconsequential such that it does not impact the court's jurisdiction. See Wis. Stat. § 809.10(1)(f). Baldwin's notice states that he is only appealing from his judgments of conviction, not the laterissued postconviction order. This is a significant omission. And while this court found in State v. Jackson, 2007 WI App 145, n.1, 302 Wis. 2d 766, 735 N.W.2d 178, that a defendant's notice of appeal from a circuit court's postconviction order brought before it the court's judgment of conviction even though the defendant did not mention the judgment on his notice, this rationale should not save Baldwin's DNA surcharge claim. Baldwin's postconviction motion came after his conviction. but he only appealed from his judgments of conviction. In Jackson. the defendant appealed from his postconviction order, which followed his judgment of conviction. In Jackson, the defendant intended to appeal from the order and all matters that preceded it. Baldwin's failure include the to court's postconviction order in his notice of appeal should lead to the opposite conclusion in this case. C.f. Wis. Stat. § 809.10(4) (appeal from final judgment or order brings before court of appeals all prior nonfinal judgments, orders, and rulings adverse to appellant). Baldwin did not appeal the circuit court's postconviction order and his claim is not properly before this court.

B. Baldwin forfeited his right to raise this claim on appeal.

If this court concludes that it has jurisdiction to decide Baldwin's claim, it still should decline to address the claim on its merits because Baldwin forfeited appellate review of this claim by raising it *pro se* in the circuit court while he was represented by counsel. Baldwin argued that the circuit court failed to comply with *Cherry* in a *pro se* postconviction motion (36; 2009AP1543-CR, 23). He filed this motion while represented by counsel, and the circuit court declined to address the claim's merits, noting that Baldwin needed to raise all his claims through counsel (36). Baldwin did not file another postconviction motion raising this claim through counsel.

Under these circumstances, Baldwin has forfeited appellate review of this claim. See State v. Wanta, 224 Wis. 2d 679, 699, 592 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1999). A defendant does not have a right to simultaneously proceed pro se and be represented by counsel. Id. (citation omitted). And when a defendant raises an issue pro se while represented, a court is under no obligation to address the claim. See id. While represented, a defendant must raise all his arguments through counsel, and if a defendant has only asserted a claim pro se in the circuit court, he forfeits the right to raise the claim on appeal. Id.; see also State v. Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18 n.11, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (noting that loss of appellate review stemming from the failure to properly assert a claim is more properly termed a "forfeiture" of that right rather than a "waiver," which contemplates an intentional relinguishment of the right). Baldwin has forfeited his right to review of his DNA surcharge claim in this court.

> C. If this court concludes it has jurisdiction and does not find or apply forfeiture to this claim, remand for further proceedings is appropriate.

In the event this court concludes that it has jurisdiction to decide Baldwin's claim relating to the DNA surcharge, and if this court either concludes that Baldwin did not forfeit his claim or overlooks his forfeiture, then the State concedes that remand for further proceedings pursuant to *Cherry* is warranted. The circuit court did not give sufficient reasons why it imposed the surcharge (58:84-85). And none of the crimes of which Baldwin was convicted required the court to impose it. See Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r). Thus, the court failed to comply with Cherry. See Cherry, 312 Wis. 2d 202, ¶¶ 9-10. If this court reaches the merits of Baldwin's claim, it should remand to allow the circuit court to explain its reasons for imposing the surcharge. See id., ¶ 11.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PRO-PERLY ADMITTED ROSALIE'S STATEMENTS TO POLICE PURSUANT TO THE DOC-TRINE OF FORFEITURE BY WRONGDOING.

A. Applicable law and standard of review.

Confrontation Clause of The the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." See U.S. Const., Under this clause, the testimonial amend. VI. statements of a witness against a defendant who does not testify at a defendant's trial will not be admitted at trial unless the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness and the witness is unavailable. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004).

A defendant may, however, forfeit his rights under the confrontation clause when his actions have caused the witness to be unavailable to testify at trial. *See Giles v. California*, 544 U.S. _____, 128 S. Ct. 2678 (2008). A defendant forfeits his right to confront a witness at trial when the defendant engages in conduct designed to prevent the witness from testifying. *Id.* at 2683-91. Thus, when a defendant takes actions to prevent a witness from appearing at trial, that witness's testimonial statements against the defendant may be admitted without the witness's presence at trial and without affording the defendant a prior opportunity for cross-examination without violating the Confrontation Clause. *Id.*

In order to admit an unavailable witness's testimonial statements. the State has the obligation of proving that the defendant caused the witness's absence by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Rodriguez, 2007 WI App 252, ¶ 14, 306 Wis. 2d 129, 743 N.W.2d 460; State v. Jensen, 2007 WI 26, ¶ 57, 299 Wis. 2d 267, 727 N.W.2d 518. The court must find, at a minimum, that the defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in causing the witness's absence; it need not, however, be the only cause. *Rodriguez*, 306 Wis. 2d 129, ¶ 15.

This court reviews whether the admission of violates defendant's evidence a right to confrontation as an issue of constitutional fact. State v. Norman, 2003 WI 72, ¶ 24, 262 Wis. 2d 506, 664 N.W.2d 97. Under this standard of review, this court will adopt the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, independently applies the appropriate but constitutional standard to those facts. Id.

B. Baldwin forfeited his right to confront Rosalie.

Baldwin next argues that the circuit court improperly concluded that he had forfeited his right to confront Rosalie and admitted her out-ofcourt statements inculpating him in the crimes (Baldwin's brief at 19-22). This court should reject this argument. The circuit court correctly found by a preponderance of the evidence that Baldwin had engaged in activity to prevent Rosalie from testifying at trial. As such, it properly applied the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine and admitted her testimonial statements.

1. The circuit court's decision.

Before trial, the State requested that the circuit court find that Baldwin forfeited his right to confront Rosalie as a result of his post-arrest attempts to dissuade her from testifying at trial (12). In granting the State's request on the morning of trial, the circuit court held:

I have reviewed all of the information submitted regarding the State's motion for forfeiture by wrongdoing and have considered the arguments of counsel.

On December 10th, based upon my review of the cases, I concurred with [defense counsel] that the witness must first be determined to be unavailable. If the witness is determined to be unavailable, then the Court determines if the defendant caused the witness's unavailability. If so determined, then forfeiture by wrongdoing applies to the defendant's confrontation rights, and otherwise testimonial evidence may be admitted.

Now, on December 10th I cited the <u>State v.</u> <u>Jensen</u> case, 299 Wis. 2d, 267, a 2007 case, and I rely upon that decision today. "In <u>Jensen</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court adopted a broad forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine and concluded that if the State can prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the accused caused the absence of the witness, the forfeiture by wrongdoing doctrine will apply to the confrontation rights of the defendant.

"The Court explicitly adopted this doctrine whereby a defendant is deemed to have lost the right to object on confrontation grounds to the admissibility of out-of-court statements of a declarant whose unavailability the defendant has caused. The law will not allow a person to take advantage of his own wrong act. The rule of forfeiture by wrongdoing is invoked to protect the integrity of our adversary process by deterring defendants from acting on strong incentives to prevent the testimony of an adverse witness."

. . . .

... The State has provided me with a subpoena that demonstrates that Rosalie Z[] was served with a copy of the subpoena on April 14th – excuse me – on March 31st, 2008, at 2:16 p.m. requiring her attendance at court today, April 14th, at 8:30 in the witness waiting room of the courthouse. This case was called earlier today, and Rosalie Z[] had not appeared, and I take it the State double-checked that she was not in the waiting area; is that correct?

[ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY]: Yes, Judge.

THE COURT: And I issued a body attachment. I don't recall, exactly, what time that was. It took some time to bring the defendant over from court staging. I'm just guessing maybe around 9:30 or so. It was signed by the Court, but I'm just guessing sometime this morning it was signed by the Court. And – and the State has sent out officers looking for [Rosalie Z.], and she is not in court.

I believe, based on the State's attempts, they have made a good faith attempt to secure her appearance in court on today's date, and Rosalie Z[] is not here. Based upon the record made, based upon the submissions filed by the State and the testimony adduced at preliminary hearing – I believe it was August 23, I believe – this Court finds that the State has met its burden of proof to allow this Court to permit the on-scene statements of Rosalie Z[] and two police officers to be used at trial.

This Court finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant, Scottie Baldwin, has intimidated the State's witness Rosalie Z[], from attending court to testify against him at trial. The actions of the defendant have been outlined in the State's motion and include tape recordings, in particular, a conversation from the jail on June 21, 2007, purportedly between the defendant and Rosalie Z[] where there are statements by the defendant regarding a floppy disk and the defendant telling Rosalie Z[] to get something notarized.

There is [sic] conversations with respect to that recording, I believe, where Rosalie Z[] stated – the State purports it's her – stating – She's making statements she is doing everything that the defendant is telling her to do.

It, clearly, appears, when you read that transcript, that the defendant is directing this witness to do something; and, lo and behold, there is a search warrant of Rosalie Z[]'s residence. And there is a card that's procured from that search warrant, and also there's an affidavit that's filed in Judge Conen's court that contains language set forth in the card from – that was sent from the jail to this witness.

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